89842-1

APPEAL NO. 69274-7-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION ONE

(Whatcom County Court Case No. 05-2-02841-2)

---

**YOUNG S. & YONG S. KIM,**

Appellants,

vs.

**KYUNG-RAK & JAE SOOK KIM, ET AL,**

Respondents.

---

**PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

Douglas R. Shepherd  
Bethany C. Allen  
Shepherd and Abbott  
2011 Young Street, Ste 202  
Bellingham, WA 98225  
(360) 733-3773

**FILED**  
JAN 30 2014  
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

January 9, 2014

FILED  
COURT OF APPEALS DIV 1  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
2014 JAN 23 PM 2:52

**ORIGINAL**

**

**A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Young S. Kim and Yong S. Kim (Restaurant Kim)<sup>1</sup> are the Petitioners in this Court and were the Appellants in the Court of Appeals.

**B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

The Court of Appeals in *Kim v. Kyung-Rak Kim*, Washington State Court of Appeals No. 69274-7-I, affirmed the trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law in an unpublished opinion on October 28, 2013. A copy of the Court of Appeal's opinion is attached hereto as Appendix A. A copy of the Restaurant Kim's trial court Motion for Reconsideration is attached hereto as Appendix B. Restaurant Kim moved to publish the opinion on November 15, 2013. This motion was denied.

**C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Whether the trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law and the Court of Appeals' decision granting an implied

---

<sup>1</sup> To avoid confusion throughout trial and this appeal, plaintiffs/appellants have been and will be referred to as "Restaurant Kim" and defendants/respondents as "Market Kim." Counsel for the parties do not mean any disrespect by referencing the parties in this manner, but do so for clarity.

easement in favor of the grantor are inconsistent with *Adams v. Culler*<sup>2</sup> and *Veach v. Culp*.<sup>3</sup>

2. Whether a trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law granting a prescriptive easement over a substantial portion of Restaurant Kim's property are inconsistent with *Lee v. Lozier*.<sup>4</sup>

3. Whether the delay of 27 months between the trial and entry of findings of fact and conclusions of law renders the findings and conclusions unreliable as a matter of law or at a minimum requires a de novo review.

#### **D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Restaurant Kim, and Respondents Kyung-Rak Kim and Jae Sook Kim (Market Kim) own adjoining parcels of real property located in Birch Bay, Whatcom County, Washington. The parcels are situated directly adjacent to one another, with the Market Parcel located north of the Restaurant Parcel. Trial Exhibit P21. Both parcels were originally owned by William O. Vogt (Vogt). In 1978, Vogt quit claimed the Restaurant Parcel to his daughter,

---

<sup>2</sup> 44 Wn.2d 502, 268 P.2d 451 (1954).

<sup>3</sup> 21 Wn.App. 454, 585 P.2d 818 (Div. 1, 1978), *rev'd on other grounds*, *Veach v. Culp*, 92 Wn.2d 570, 599 P.2d 526 (1979).

<sup>4</sup> 88 Wn.App. 176, 945 P.2d 214 (Div. I, 1997).

Penny Beebe (Beebe). No easement was ever executed or recorded between Vogt and Beebe for the use of the Restaurant Parcel for any purpose. From the time of the 1978 Deed to the time of trial, the west side of the Market Kim's property abutted 190 feet of public roadway. Trial Exhibits P5, P9, and D34. See Appendix C. The Market parcel has always had a large parking lot to the north of the market. *Id.*; Trial Exhibit P31n and P31m; see Appendix C.

Restaurant Kim sued his neighbor, Market Kim, in Whatcom County Superior Court, seeking to quiet title to a portion of Restaurant Kim's parking lot which was being used by Market Kim. Market Kim, in the trial court, claimed both an implied easement and a prescriptive easement over a large portion of Restaurant Kim's paved parking lot.

A bench trial occurred in December of 2009. CP 269. At the end of the trial, the court advised the parties as follows:

The only problem now is I have got to . . . I need to digest this and come forth with a decision. I want to do so as quickly as I possibly can. Because I will never understand or recall the facts of this case well as I do right now.

RP 584. On December 15, 2009, the trial court wrote to counsel and advised them that Market Kim had established both an implied easement and a prescriptive easement.

In my opinion, Mr. Dworkin's clients have carried their burden of proof and have established all elements necessary to prove an implied easement by reservation. I believe that Adams v. Cullen is the case most directly on point. . . . Finally, the issue of a prescriptive easement must be addressed.? Simply put, I am in agreement with Mr. Dworkin's position in this regard, and that the requisite period of two full lustrums has passed, allowing his client to prevail on this theory as well.

CP 217. This letter to counsel was not filed by the trial court.

In March of 2012, 27 months after the trial, Market Kim presented findings of fact and conclusions of law to the trial court.

CP 214. On April 3, 2012, the trial court entered Market Kim's proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law, without making one addition, correction, deletion or alteration. CP 269.

The Deed relied upon by Market Kim to establish a reserved implied easement was an October 1978 Quit Claim Deed, Vogt to Beebe, prepared by the law firm of LeCocq, Simonarson, Visser & Johnson. Exhibit P13. The Deed relied upon by Restaurant Kim was a Statutory Warranty Deed, Beebe to Restaurant Kim, filed of

record on October 8, 1996, prepared and filed by Chicago Title Insurance Company. Exhibit P26.

The trial court's findings related to the implied easement made no reference to any necessity that might have existed in 1978. Instead the trial court's findings focused on the alleged necessity for the implied easement which existed at the time of trial. CP 269-284. In its conclusions of law, the trial court concluded that in 2009 the implied easement was "reasonably necessary" in 2009. CP 279. More importantly the trial court incorrectly used the standard of preponderance of the evidence to establish the prescriptive easement.

The trial court's findings and conclusions regarding the prescriptive easement completely ignored the issue repeatedly raised by Restaurant Kim: How can one seek both an implied easement, arguing that it was a property right intended by the parties, and also argue they had a prescriptive easement, one taken by legal force and not intended?

Following the 1978 Quit Claim Deed to Beebe, and over the next twenty years, there are a series of nine (9) additional recorded documents, filed with the Whatcom County Auditor, related to title

and/or easements affecting title to the Market Parcel and the Restaurant Parcel. Trial Exhibits P16, P17, P18, P20, P22, P23, P26, P27, and P28. None of the following recorded documents disclose an easement between Vogt and Beebe in favor of Vogt.

In 1984, a 17 year lease was signed by the previous owners of the Market Parcel, stating that the north side of the parcel (the non-adjointing side of the Market Parcel) shall be used by the tenant of the Market for parking and shipments. Trial Exhibit P20.

Restaurant Kim respectfully requests that this Court accept review of this matter and (1) the excessive delay of the trial court in its entry of its findings of fact and conclusions of law, and (2) the timing of the necessity element.

**E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED**

Review should be accepted because:

1. The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court;
2. The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; and

3. The petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.<sup>5</sup>

Under *Adams*, 44 Wn.2d 502, and *Veach*, 21 Wn.App. 454, necessity is determined at the time of severance, not at the time of trial. Under *Lee*, 88 Wn.App 176, Market Kim was required to provide clear proof of its claimed prescriptive easement. Not surprisingly, no Washington case has addressed the fundamental fairness issues related to a 27 month delay in entry of findings and conclusions. Likely because it has never before happened. Review should be taken to establish that Washington follow the rule adopted by the First Circuit, United States Court of Appeals in *Keller v. U.S.*, 38 F.3d 16 (N.H. 1994). The *Keller* court appropriately concluded that an unreasonable delay in entry of findings and conclusions required *de novo* review and "*de novo* scrutiny of the entire record with a view to whether the prolonged delay in reaching a decision rendered the trial court's findings of fact unreliable . . ." *Id.* at 21.

///

---

<sup>5</sup> RAP 13.4(b).

**1. Necessity is to be determined at the time of the conveyance.**

The Court of Appeals incorrectly and inappropriately examined the necessity at the time of trial, and not the time of severance.

“For an easement by implied reservation, the weight of authority requires a higher degree of necessity than for an implied grant. The usual term is ‘strict’ necessity.” *Adams*, 44 Wn.2d at 508. The necessity must exist when the estate is severed. *Id.* at 507. “The necessity is to be determined from the conditions existing at the time of the conveyance.” *Veach*, 21 Wn.App. at 458-59.

An implied easement cannot be created unless the facts and circumstances surrounding the 1978 Deed demonstrate intent by the parties to create an easement in favor of the grantor. *Roberts v. Smith*, 41 Wn.App. 861, 864, 707 P.2d 143 (Div. 2, 1985).

Implied easements by reservation are not favored:

There is a well-recognized distinction between an implied grant and an implied reservation and it has been recognized in Washington. . . . In the case of severance of the servient estate, an easement will, ordinarily, not

be reserved since the grantor cannot derogate from his own grant.

*Wreggitt v. Porterfield*, 36 Wn.2d 638, 640, 219 P.2d 589 (1950).

(Citations omitted.)

**2. A trial court's entry of its findings of fact and conclusions of law 27 months after trial is an excessive delay, making its findings unreliable.**

CR 59(a)(1) requires a new trial when any party was prevented from having a fair trial. Division I erroneously deferred to the trial court's assessment of the evidence and was unwilling to review the facts de novo. This Court should accept review of this appeal to establish that Washington provides de novo review of unreasonably and unfairly delayed findings and conclusions. Admittedly, one would hope that no other court would delay entry of its decision for more than two years, but all litigants in Washington should not believe that such a delay has no consequences.

Excessive delay by a trial court in its entry of judgment and/or findings is not accepted, and has warranted reversal in many jurisdictions. *Schang v. Schang*, 53 So.3d 1168 (2011)

(judgment on alimony entered more than one year after evidentiary hearing merited reversal because findings were inconsistent with trial evidence); *Baker v. Vidoli*, 751 So.2d 608 (1999) (twenty-two month delay determined to be excessive delay warranting reversal); *Keller v. U.S.*, 38 F.3d 16 (1994) (delay required de novo review).

**3. The failure of the trial court to independently understand the facts is demonstrated by its inconsistent findings, conclusions and application of the law as it relates to the prescriptive easement.**

In an auto accident the fact finder could not find that a stop light was both red and green at the same time in the same direction of travel. In a quiet title action, title to an easement cannot be both unstated and intended, at the same time acquired adversely. A consensual use or permitted use of property is presumed to remain permissive.

Use that is permissive at its inception is presumed to remain permissive unless proof exists of (1) a change in use beyond that permitted, providing notice of hostility to the true owner, or (2) the sale of the servient estate. (Emphasis added.)

*Miller v. Anderson*, 91 Wn.App 822, 825, 964 P.2d 365 (Div. 1, 1998).

The trial court accepted Market Kim's findings and conclusions regarding its burden on the prescriptive easement claim. However, at trial and on appeal no Washington authority was cited for the proposition that "preponderance" is the burden of proof for prescriptive easement claims. In *Lee v. Lozier*, 88 Wn.App. 176, the court stated, that the party claiming a prescriptive easement needed to establish each element by "**clear proof.**" *Id.* at 185. This Court should accept review to establish that in Washington clear and convincing evidence of a prescriptive easement is required.

Utah requires "clear and convincing" evidence to establish a prescriptive easement. *Essential Botanical Farms, LC v. Kay*, 270 P.3d 430, 437 (2011). Oregon requires clear and convincing evidence to support the establishment of a prescriptive easement. *Drayton v. City of Lincoln City*, 244 Or.App. 144, 150, 260 P.3d 642 (2011). Idaho requires 'clear and convincing proof' to establish a prescriptive easement. *Weitz v. Green*, 148 Idaho 851, 230 P.3d 743 (2010). In California "[a] party seeking to establish a

prescriptive easement has the burden of proof by clear and convincing evidence." *Grant v. Ratliff*, 164 Cal.App.4th 1304, 1310, 79 Cal.Rptr.3d 902 (Dist. 2, 2008).

**F. CONCLUSION**

It is judicial fiction to conclude the trial court remembered all the facts of this trial well enough to enter independent and appropriate findings and conclusions twenty-seven (27) months after hearing the parties' evidence and arguments particularly when, at the end of trial, the court admitted the need for expeditious entry of its findings.

This Court should accept review, reverse the Court of Appeals and remand this matter to the trial court for a new trial consistent with this Court's opinion, as well as *Adams* and *Veach*. Costs on this appeal should be awarded to Restaurant Kim.