RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Feb 10, 2014, 4:27 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

Supreme Court No. 89842-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

YOUNG S. & YONG S. KIM,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

KYUNG-RAK & JAE SOOK KIM, ET AL.

Defendants/Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

BELCHER SWANSON LAW FIRM, PLLC By: Peter R. Dworkin WSBA #30394 900 Dupont Street Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 734-6390 Attorney for Defendants/Respondents



##

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

#### V. ARGUMENT

## A. <u>Issue No. 1</u>: The Court of Appeals Employed the Proper Standard of Review for the Findings of Fact.

Petitioners argue that the Court of Appeals erred when it gave the normal level of deference to the trial court's findings of fact, reviewing them for substantial evidence rather than *de novo*. (See Pet. For Rev. at 9-10). Petitioners present no Washington authority on this issue, and Respondents could find none either.

Petitioners cite <u>Keller v. US</u>, 38 F.3d 16 (1<sup>st</sup> Cir. 1994) for the proposition that the delay in entry of findings in this case required the Court of Appeals to review the findings *de novo*. Petitioners' argument ignores the underlying facts of <u>Keller</u>, and the facts of this case.<sup>9</sup> The Court of Appeals noted the stark contrast between <u>Keller</u> and this case, specifically pointing out that Petitioners failed to allege any type of prejudice from the delay. (Slip Opinion at 5-6).

Petitioners also cite for the first time in this Petition, two Florida cases. <sup>10</sup> These too, are inapposite. Both of these cases are based on a Florida court's interpretation of Florida rules of Judicial Administration.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Below, Petitioners failed to designate the transcript from the March 21, 2012 hearing on entry of Findings, Conclusions and Judgment and make no reference to that hearing in their Opening Brief. Petitioners' counsel was in fact present at that hearing. Respondents provided this transcript to the Court at their own expense. A review of that transcript reveals that the court made express oral findings highly relevant to Petitioners' argument. (RP 3/21/12 at 21 to 28).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Schang v. Schang, 53 So.3d 1168 (2011), and <u>Baker v. Vidoli</u>, 751 So.2d 608 (1999).

Schang, 53 So.3d at 1170. Moreover, they require relief be granted only when a Petitioner can show the delay caused "a conflict or inconsistency between the judge's statements or findings at trial and the ultimate judgment" or "where there is a 'factual finding . . . unsupported by the evidence.". Id. at 1170.

Here, there are no such defects. The record supports the Court of Appeals holding that the trial court's memory was "vivid" and the findings therefore reliable. The trial court's email ruling and final judgment are consistent despite the gap in time. In over seven pages of transcript, the trial court explained that it had excellent recall of the trial and the testimony. (See RP 3/21/12 at 21 to 28). The trial court even said it had a better memory of this trial than most others:

In this case, I have retained, I think, a fair degree of memory and recollection about the facts, despite the confusion of the names of the parties, except for the identification and designation as Restaurant Kims and Market Kims. Um, and I think my recollection is probably better than it would be in most cases of this type, perhaps, again, because of my familiarity with the property in question. (RP 3/21/13 at 23 to 24).

The trial court stated that it had spent the better part of a day going over the documents, the pleadings submitted in support of and in opposition to the entry of findings, conclusions, and judgment as well as portions of the trial transcript. (RP 3/21/13 at 24). The court stated that

after that review "many of the details were still vivid in my memory." (Id.).

The trial court outlined that it also reviewed the trial exhibit notebooks as well as all the other materials assembled in the court's own file. (*Id.* at 24 to 25). The court stated that in reviewing those documents:

I was able to track very well from beginning to end [of] the trial, including the history of the properties in question here, um, and as I said, I had a pretty vivid recollection of those properties anyway just from my exposure to them for so many years. (RP 3/21/13 at 25, lines 1 to 6).

. . . .

[I]n my opinion, I have sufficient independent recollection of the facts of this case that was refreshed, also by review of my notes, the materials and all of the records and files, including the transcript. (RP 3/21/13 at 26, lines 19 to 23).

And probably it is just as true now as it was then and it will be forever more than I will still think of the parties as the Market Kims and the Restaurant Kims. So that — it's not so much a confusion of the parties as it is finding a convenient pneumonic [sic] device to keep them separate in my mind. (RP 3/21/13 at 26 to 27, lines 24 to 5).

. . .

I have reviewed carefully the proposals and I am willing at this time to sign the proposed documents as submitted by Mr. Dworkin. (RP 3/21/13 at 27, lines 8 to 11) (emphasis added).

None of the cases cited by Petitioner come even close to matching the record in this case of unambiguous statements from the trial court detailing the extent of the trial court's memory. The crux of the <u>Keller</u> decision as well as the two Florida cases cited by Petitioner is to emphasize the importance of affording deference to a trial court's findings when they are proven reliable:

"We consider it critically important that appellate attention remain focused on ensuring that trial court findings, despite inordinate decision-making delay, not be squandered unless their reliability has been undermined."

#### Keller, 38 F.3d at 21.

The Court of Appeals appropriately gave deference to the trial court's findings, reviewing only for substantial evidence, because the record demonstrates the impeccable reliability of the findings. The Court of Appeals correctly relied heavily on the trial court's announcement of the extent of its memory when it denied Petitioner's challenge on this issue. The Court of Appeals correctly held that Petitioners also failed to demonstrate any prejudice. Petitioner's claim fails because "The record here shows the trial court's vivid memory of the trial and the testimony. The trial judge refreshed his memory by reviewing the trial transcripts, his trial notes, admitted exhibits, the parties' trial notebooks, and court files" (Slip Opinion at 6-7).

## B. <u>Issue No. 2</u>: The Court of Appeals did not Err in its Analysis of the "Necessity" Factor of Implied Easements.

Reviewing whether an implied easement exists requires analysis of three "factors:" (1) former unity of title and subsequent separation; (2) prior apparent and continuous quasi-easement for the benefit of one part of the estate to the detriment of another, and (3) a certain degree of necessity for the continuation of the easement." (Slip Opinion at 10, citing, Adams v. Cullen, 44 Wn.2d 502, 505, 268 P.2d 451 (1954), MacMeekin v. Low Income Hous. Inst., Inc., 111 Wn. App. 188, 195, 45 P.3d 570 (2002)). The first factor – unity of title—is required; the remaining two factors are "aids to construction in determining the cardinal consideration—the presumed intention of the parties as disclosed by the extent and character of the user, the nature of the property, and the relation of the separated parts to each other." (Slip Opinion at 10-11, citing, Adams v. Cullen, 44 Wn.2d at 505-06).

Petitioners conceded below that they had no substantive challenge to (and the Court of Appeals found overwhelming record evidence of) the first two factors. (Slip Opinion at 11-12). Petitioners agreed that their only true substantive challenge to the trial court's judgment imposing an implied easement on the Restaurant Parcel arose out of the "necessity" factor. (Slip Opinion at 12, fn. 11). Petitioners' argument boils down to

timing: they argue that the time of the "necessity" to be evaluated was in 1978 at the time of subsequent separation of title, not the time of trial. (Pet. For Rev. at 8; see also, Slip Opinion at 17).

Petitioners only superficially argued this issue in their opening brief, citing absolutely no authority to support their proposition. (See Slip Opinion at 17, citing, Appellant's Br. At 23-24). In their reply, Petitioners cited Hellberg v. Coffin Sheep Co<sup>11</sup> which the Court of Appeals quickly distinguished. (Slip Opinion at fn. 14). After oral argument, Petitioners submitted a statement of additional authorities citing the Court of Appeals decision in Veach v. Culp, 21 Wn. App. 454, 458-59, 585 P.2d 818 (1978), which at first glance appears to address the issue in dicta.

The Court of Appeals explained in detail why Petitioners' citation to <u>Veach v. Culp</u> was unpersuasive. (Slip Opinion at 17-19). The Court of Appeals went on to cite several cases where the necessity factor was measured at the time of trial, including the seminal <u>Adams v. Cullen.</u><sup>12</sup>
These cases both pre-date and post-date the Court of Appeals opinion in <u>Veach</u> which Petitioners cite.

The Court of Appeals noted that the <u>Veach</u> opinion cited by Petitioners was overruled by this Court in <u>Veach v. Culp</u>, 92 Wn.2d 570,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Hellberg v. Coffin Sheep Co., 66 Wn.2d 664, 668, 404 P.2d 770 (1965).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The Court of Appeals cited Fossum Orchards v. Pugsley, 77 Wn. App. 447, 892 P.2d 1095 (1995), and, Bays v. Haven, 55 Wn. App. 324, 329, 777 P.2d 562 (1989).

599 P.2d 526 (1979). (Slip Opinion at 17-18, fn. 14). This Court held, without limitation, that "The decision of the Court of Appeals and the judgment of the trial court are reversed." Petitioners' use of the lower court's opinion in Veach v. Culp as authority is at best, questionable.

Limiting the scope of the necessity factor to a snapshot in time on the date of separation of title rather than a review of all the circumstances as a whole up to the current date is illogical when viewed in the context of the doctrine of implied easements. The rationale espoused in Adams v. Cullen and its progeny instruct us that the purpose of the "necessity" element is to balance the interests of the alleged dominant estate against those of the alleged servient estate. The higher the necessity at the time of demanding the easement, the more likely the easement will be implied. The cases analyzing claims of implied easements are in accord with this analysis. Adams, 44 Wn.2d 502; Bays v. Haven, 55 Wn. App. 324; McPhaden v. Scott, 95 Wn. App. 431, 438, 975 P.2d 1033 (1999).

All of the Petitioners' focus on the "necessity" factor must be tempered by the two rules limiting its overall relevance in the implied easement analysis. First, the "necessity" factor is not an absolute requirement; instead, it is only an "aid to construction" of implied easements. Adams v. Cullen, 44 Wn.2d at 505-06. Second, "necessity" and prior use of the land are counterbalancing factors. Thus, the stronger

the evidence of prior use during common ownership, the less evidence of necessity is required, and vice versa. Adams, 44 Wn.2d at 455, citing Restatement, Property, § 476, comment g. p. 2983, et seq. As a result, contrary to what Petitioner suggests, "no precise definition of necessity can be made." Id.

# C. <u>Issue No. 3</u>: Should this Court Review The Issues Related to the Prescriptive Easement Claim?

At trial, Respondent Market Kims advanced two theories of easement—implied and/or prescriptive. The trial court ruled in their favor on both theories. The area and scope of the easement requested by Respondents and ultimately granted by the trial court was not dependent upon the legal theory employed. Respondent Market Kims asked for the same area and scope of easement whether it be by implication or through prescription.

The Final Judgment and its attached exhibits reflect this approach to the case by the Respondents as well as the trial court. (See, CP 285-293 (Final Judgment, attached as Appendix B)). The Final Judgment contains no mention of whether the easement being created thereby is based on a theory of prescription or implication. Instead, those details are properly left to the findings and conclusions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Petitioners did not challenge (at trial or on appeal) any of the evidence of decades of prior use during common ownership. See Section IV infra.

Petitioners ask this Court to grant review on the issue of the burden of proof of a prescriptive easement, alleging that the trial court erroneously applied the wrong standard. (Pet. For Rev. at 10-11). In asking for review, Petitioners fail to point out that the Court of Appeals did not even reach this issue.<sup>14</sup>

Petitioners unequivocally conceded at oral argument before the Court of Appeals that if the court were to affirm on the implied easement issue, the prescriptive easement issue becomes immaterial:

Presiding Judge Lau: "You would agree that if this court adopts the view that the trial court did, that there is an implied easement by use, that we need not reach the prescriptive easement?"

Petitioners' Counsel: "I guess the answer is yes, because I don't think you can decide that the light was red and green....",15

Thus, even assuming for argument that there was some error in the trial court's analysis of the prescriptive easement issue, so long as the relief granted the Market Kims in the Final Judgment is fully supported by the implied easement theory, the affirmance by the Court of Appeals was proper and must be upheld. See, Port of Seattle v. Lexington Ins. Co., 111

 <sup>14</sup> See, Slip Opinion at 9, fn. 8.
 15 Excerpt taken from Court of Appeals Oral Argument Hearing, held September 13,

http://www.courts.wa.gov/appellate\_trial\_courts/appellateDockets/index.cfm?fa=appellat eDockets.showOralArgAudioList&courtId=a01&docketDate=20130913

Wn. App. 901, 919-920, 48 P.3d 334 (2002) (upholding ultimate decision of trial court despite error when alternative theory supported judgment).

#### VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, the Petition for Review should be Denied, and all taxable costs should be awarded to the Market Kims.